

INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

NORME INTERNATIONALE



BASIC SAFETY PUBLICATION PUBLICATION FONDAMENTALE DE SÉCURITÉ

Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems – Part 3: Use of coating, potting or moulding for protection against pollution

Coordination de l'isolement des matériels dans les systèmes (réseaux) à basse tension – Partie 3: Utilisation de revêtement, d'empotage ou de moulage pour la protection

contre la pollution

https://standards.iteh.aver

a-b2c0-4ac8-a4b2-afec2cd9bbf0/iec-60664-3-2003



THIS PUBLICATION IS COPYRIGHT PROTECTED

Copyright © 2010 IEC, Geneva, Switzerland

All rights reserved. Unless otherwise specified, no part of this publication may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and microfilm, without permission in writing from either IEC or IEC's member National Committee in the country of the requester.

If you have any questions about IEC copyright or have an enquiry about obtaining additional rights to this publication, please contact the address below or your local IEC member National Committee for further information.

Droits de reproduction réservés. Sauf indication contraire, aucune partie de cette publication ne peut être reproduite ni utilisée sous quelque forme que ce soit et par aucun procédé, électronique ou mécanique, y compris la photocopie et les microfilms, sans l'accord écrit de la CEI ou du Comité national de la CEI du pays du demandeur. Si vous avez des questions sur le copyright de la CEI ou si vous désirez obtenir des droits supplémentaires sur cette publication, utilisez les coordonnées ci-après ou contactez le Comité national de la CEI de votre pays de résidence.

IEC Central Office 3, rue de Varembé CH-1211 Geneva 20 Switzerland Email: inmail@iec.ch Web: www.iec.ch

About the IEC

The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is the leading global organization that prepares and publishes International Standards for all electrical, electronic and related technologies.

About IEC publications

The technical content of IEC publications is kept under constant review by the IEC. Please make sure that you have the latest edition, a corrigenda or an amendment might have been published.

Catalogue of IEC publications: <u>www.iec.ch/searchpub</u>

The IEC on-line Catalogue enables you to search by a variety of criteria (reference number, text, technical committee,...). It also gives information on projects, withdrawn and replaced publications.

IEC Just Published: www.iec.ch/online_news/justpub Stay up to date on all new IEC publications_ just Published datailatures a month all new

Stay up to date on all new IEC publications. Just Published details twice a month all new publications released. Available on-line and also by email.

Electropedia: <u>www.electropedia.org</u>

The world's leading online dictionary of electronic and electrical terms containing more than 20 000 terms and definitions in English and French, with equivalent terms in additional languages. Also known as the International Electrotechnical Vocabulary online.

Customer Service Centre: www.iec.ch/webstore/custserv

If you wish to give us your feedback on this publication or need further assistance, please visit the Customer Service Centre FAQ or contact us

Email: <u>csc@iec.ch</u> Tel.: +41 22 919 02 11 Fax: +41 22 919 03 00

A propos de la CÈ

La Commission Electrotechnique Internationale (CEI) est la première organisation mondiale qui élabore et publie des normes internationales pour tout ce qui a trait à l'électricité, à l'électronique et aux technologies apparentées.

A propos des publications CEI

Le contenu technique des publications de la CEI est constamment revu. Veuillez vous assurer que vous possédez l'édition la plus récente, un corrigendum ou amendement peut avoir été publié.

Catalogue des publications de la CEI: <u>www.iec.ch/searchpub/cur_fut-f.htm</u>

Le Catalogue en-ligne de la CEI vous permet d'effectuer des recherches en utilisant différents critères (numéro de référence, texte, comité d'études,...). Il donne aussi des informations sur les projets et les publications retirées ou remplacées.

Just Published CEI: <u>www.iec.ch/online_news/justpub</u>

Restez informé sur les nouvelles publications de la CEI. Just Published détaille deux fois par mois les nouvelles publications parues. Disponible en-ligne et aussi par email.

Electropedia: <u>www.electropedia.org</u>

Le premier dictionnaire en ligne au monde de termes électroniques et électriques. Il contient plus de 20 000 termes et définitions en anglais et en français, ainsi que les termes équivalents dans les langues additionnelles. Egalement appelé Vocabulaire Electrotechnique International en ligne.

Service Clients: <u>www.iec.ch/webstore/custserv/custserv_entry-f.htm</u>

Si vous désirez nous donner des commentaires sur cette publication ou si vous avez des questions, visitez le FAQ du Service clients ou contactez-nous:

Email: csc@iec.ch

Tél.: +41 22 919 02 11 Fax: +41 22 919 03 00



INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

NORME INTERNATIONALE



BASIC SAFETY PUBLICATION

PUBLICATION FONDAMENTALE DE SÉCURITÉ

Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems – Part 3: Use of coating, potting or moulding for protection against pollution

Coordination de l'isolement des matériels dans les systèmes (réseaux) à basse tension – Partie 3: Utilisation de revêtement, d'empotage ou de moulage pour la

protection contre la pollution

dards.iteh.aXortzlox/stanXardSiec/R98c19a-b2c0-4ac8-a4b2-afec2cd9bbf0/iec-60664-3-2003

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

COMMISSION ELECTROTECHNIQUE INTERNATIONALE

PRICE CODE CODE PRIX

ICS 29.080.30

ISBN 978-2-88912-119-9

CONTENTS

F	OREWORD	3	
11	NTRODUCTION	6	
1	Scope	7	
2	2 Normative references		
3	3 Definitions		
4	Design requirements	10	
	4.1 Principles		
	4.2 Application range regarding environment		
	4.3 Requirements for the types of protection		
	4.4 Dimensioning procedures		
5	Tests		
	5.1 General		
	5.2 Specimens for testing coatings	12	
	5.3 Specimens for testing mouldings and potting	12	
	5.4 Preparation of test specimens	12	
	5.5 Scratch resistance test	12	
	5.6 Visual examination	13	
	5.7 Conditioning of the test specimens		
	5.8 Mechanical and electrical tests after conditioning and electromigration		
	5.9 Additional tests	17	
۸	unnex A (normative) Test sequence	18	
~	unnex A (normative) Test sequence		
A	Innex B (normative) Technical committees decisions	20	
А	innex C (normative) Printed witing board for testing coatings		
ps://	/standards.iteh.a/cdtplov/stanlardSiec/Si98c19a-b2c0-4ac8-a4b2-afec2cd9bbf0/iec-	60664-3-2003	
В	ibliography	25	
E	Sigure 1. Service realistance that for protocting layors	10	
г -	igure 1 – Scratch tesistance test for protecting layers	13	
F	Igure C.1 – Configuration of the test specimen		
F	igure C.2 – Configuration of lands and adjacent conductors	24	
Т	able 1 – Minimum spacings for type 2 protection	11	
Т	able 2 – Dry heat conditioning	14	
Т	able 3 – Degrees of severities for rapid change of temperature	14	

INTERNATIONAL ELECTROTECHNICAL COMMISSION

INSULATION COORDINATION FOR EQUIPMENT WITHIN LOW-VOLTAGE SYSTEMS –

Part 3: Use of coating, potting or moulding for protection against pollution

FOREWORD

- 1) The International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) is a worldwide organization for standardization comprising all national electrotechnical committees (IEC National Committees). The object of IEC is to promote international co-operation on all questions concerning standardization in the electrical and electronic fields. To this end and in addition to other activities, IEC publishes International Standards, Technical Specifications, Technical Reports, Publicly Available Specifications (PAS) and Guides (hereafter referred to as "IEC Publication(s)"). Their preparation is entrusted to technical committees; any IEC National Committee interested in the subject dealt with may participate in this preparatory work. International, governmental and non-governmental organizations for Standardization (ISO) in accordance with conditions determined by agreement between the two organizations.
- 2) The formal decisions or agreements of IEC on technical matters express as nearly as possible, an international consensus of opinion on the relevant subjects since each technical committee has representation from all interested IEC National Committees.
- 3) IEC Publications have the form of recommendations for international use and are accepted by IEC National Committees in that sense. While all reasonable efforts are made to ensure that the technical content of IEC Publications is accurate, IEC cannot be held responsible for the way in which they are used or for any misinterpretation by any end user.
- 4) In order to promote international uniformity, IEC National Committees undertake to apply IEC Publications transparently to the maximum extent possible in their national and regional publications. Any divergence between any IEC Publication and the corresponding national or regional publication shall be clearly indicated in the latter.
- 5) IEC itself does not provide any attestation of conformity. Independent certification bodies provide conformity assessment services and, in some areas, access to IEC marks of conformity. IEC is not responsible for any 200 services carried out by independent certification bodies.
 - 6) All users should ensure that they have the latest edition of this publication.
 - 7) No liability shall attach to IEC or its directors, employees, servants or agents including individual experts and members of its technical committees and IEC National Committees for any personal injury, property damage or other damage of any nature whatsoever, whether direct or indirect, or for costs (including legal fees) and expenses arising out of the publication, use of, or reliance upon, this IEC Publication or any other IEC Publications.
 - Attention is drawn to the Normative references cited in this publication. Use of the referenced publications is indispensable for the correct application of this publication.
 - 9) Attention is drawn to the possibility that some of the elements of this IEC Publication may be the subject of patent rights. IEC shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

This consolidated version of IEC 60664-3 consists of the second edition (2003) [documents 109/24/FDIS and 109/31/RVD], its amendment 1 (2010) [documents 109/79/FDIS and 109/81/RVD] and its corrigendum of November 2010. It bears the edition number 2.1.

The technical content is therefore identical to the base edition and its amendment and has been prepared for user convenience. A vertical line in the margin shows where the base publication has been modified by amendment 1. Additions and deletions are displayed in red, with deletions being struck through.

International Standard IEC 60664-3 has been prepared by IEC technical committee 109: Insulation coordination for low-voltage equipment.

It has the status of a basic safety publication in accordance with IEC Guide 104.

This publication has been drafted in accordance with the ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2.

The major changes made during the revision of IEC 60664-3 were the following:

- Part 3 has been exactly aligned with Part 1 (including amendments 1 and 2). It has been made clear that Part 3 can only be used as a whole document together with Part 1 of IEC 60664.
- The scope of Part 3 has been greatly extended including now also potting and moulding and similar procedures providing protection against pollution. The standard also applies to all kinds of coated printed boards including the surface of inner-layers of multi-layer boards, substrates and similar protected assemblies. The distances through an inner layer of multi-layer boards however are covered by the requirements for solid insulation in Part 1.
- The difference between the two types of protection has been clarified. Type 1 (formerly type A) protection leads to a reduction of the pollution degree present beyond the protection to pollution degree 1. Type 2 (formerly type B) protection introduces protection systems which can be considered similar to solid insulation. Consequently the dimensioning and test requirements have been aligned more correctly.
- The area of application has been extended including now functional, basic, supplementary and reinforced insulation.
- Type 1 and type 2 protection now can both be used under the conditions of pollution degree 3 (formerly only type B).
- Not only type 2 protection but also type 1 protection requires that between two conductive parts 100 % of the distance across the spacing shall be covered by the protection.

 For type 2 protection minimum distances have been introduced. In any case the spacings https://sishall not be lower than the minimum value of 10 μm. 4ac8-a4b2-afec2ed9bb10/iee-60664-3-2003

- Also the new Part 5 of IEC 60664 is referred to.
- The tests follow much more closely the different requirements for type 1 and type 2 protection. The protected assembly shall withstand the electrical tests for solid insulation in 4.1.2 of IEC 60664-1. For type 1 protection, the partial discharge test is not applicable. For type 2 protection, the partial discharge test is required. The required partial discharge extinction voltage and the test method are specified in 4.1.2.4 of IEC 60664-1.
- The requirements for the test specimen have been aligned with the extended scope.
- The tests for the "adhesion of coating" and the "scratch resistance test" have been updated.

IEC 60664 consists of the following parts under the general title *Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems*:

- Part 1: Principles, requirements and tests
- Part 2: Application guide
- Part 3: Use of coating, potting or moulding for protection against pollution
- Part 4: Consideration of high-frequency voltage stress
- Part 5: A comprehensive method for determining clearances and creepage distances equal to or less than 2 mm

The committee has decided that the contents of the base publication and its amendments will remain unchanged until the stability date indicated on the IEC web site under "http://webstore.iec.ch" in the data related to the specific publication. At this date, the publication will be

- reconfirmed,
- withdrawn,
- replaced by a revised edition, or
- amended.

IMPORTANT – The "colour inside" logo on the cover page of this publication indicates that it contains colours which are considered to be useful for the correct understanding of its contents. Users should therefore print this publication using a colour printer.

INTRODUCTION

This part of IEC 60664 details the conditions in which the reduction of clearance and creepage distances can apply to rigid assemblies such as printed boards or terminals of components. Protection against pollution can be achieved by any kind of encapsulation such as coating, potting or moulding. The protection may be applied to one or both sides of the assembly. This standard specifies the insulating properties of the protecting material.

Between any two unprotected conductive parts, the clearance and creepage distance requirements of IEC 60664-1 or IEC 60664-5 apply.

This standard refers only to permanent protection. It does not cover assemblies after repair.

Technical committees need to consider the influence on the protection of overheated conductors and components, especially under fault conditions, and to decide if any additional requirements are necessary.

Safe performance of assemblies is dependent upon a precise and controlled manufacturing process for the application of the protective system. Requirements for quality control, e.g. by sampling tests, should be considered by technical committees.

https://standards.iteh.a

xc19a-b2c0-4ac8-a4b2-afec2cd9bbf0/iec-60664-3-2003

INSULATION COORDINATION FOR EQUIPMENT WITHIN LOW-VOLTAGE SYSTEMS –

Part 3: Use of coating, potting or moulding for protection against pollution

1 Scope

This part of IEC 60664 applies to assemblies protected against pollution by the use of coating, potting or moulding, thus allowing a reduction of clearance and creepage distances as described in Part 1 or Part 5.

NOTE 1 When reference is made to Part 1 or Part 5, IEC 60664-1 or IEC 60664-5 are meant.

This standard describes the requirements and test procedures for two methods of protection:

- type 1 protection improves the microenvironment of the parts under the protection;
- type 2 protection is considered to be similar to solid insulation.

This standard also applies to all kinds of protected printed boards, including the surface of inner layers of multi-layer boards, substrates and similarly protected assemblies. In the case of multi-layer printed boards, the distances through an inner layer are covered by the requirements for solid insulation in Part 1.

NOTE 2 Examples of substrates are hybrid integrated circuits and thick-film technology.

This standard refers only to permanent protection. It does not cover assemblies that are subjected to mechanical adjustment or repair.

The principles of this standard are applicable to functional, basic, supplementary and reinforced insulation.

2 Normative references

The following referenced documents are indispensable for the application of this document. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

IEC 60068-2-1:1990, Environmental testing – Part 2: Tests – Tests A: Cold Amendment 1 (1993) Amendment 2 (1994)

IEC 60068-2-2:1974, Basic environmental testing procedures – Part 2: Tests – Tests B: Dry heat Amendment 1 (1993) Amendment 2 (1994)

IEC 60068-2-14:1984, Basic environmental testing procedures – Part 2: Tests – Test N: Change of temperature Amendment 1 (1986)

IEC 60068-2-78:2001, Environmental testing – Part 2-78: Tests – Test Cab: Damp heat, steady state

IEC 60249-1:1982. Base materials for printed circuits - Part 1: Test methods Amendment 4 (1993) IEC 60249-2 (all parts), Base materials for printed circuit - Part 2: Specifications IEC 60326-2:1990. Printed boards - Part 2: Test methods Amendment 1 (1992) IEC 60454-3-1:1998, Pressure-sensitive adhesive tapes for electrical purposes - Part 3: Specifications for individual materials - Sheet 1: PVC film tapes with pressure-sensitive adhesive IEC 60664-1:1992, Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems Part 1: Principles, requirements and tests Amendment 1 (2000) Amendment 2 (2002) IEC 60664-5: , Insulation coordination for equipment within voltage Part 5: A comprehensive method for determining clearance and creepage distances equal to or less than 2 mm ations and the use of basic safety IEC Guide 104:1997, The preparation of safety public publications and group safety publications IEC 60068-2-1:2007, Environmental testing - Part 2-1. Tests - Test A: Cold IEC 60068-2-2:2007, Environmental testing - Rart 2-2: Tests - Test B: Dry heat Rart 2-14: Tests - Test N: Change of IEC 60068-2-14:2009, Environmental testing temperature IEC 60068-2-78;2001, Environmental testing - Part 2-78: Tests - Test Cab: Damp heat, steady state teh. IEC 60326-2:1990, Rrinted boards - Part 2: Test methods Amendment 1 (1992) IEC 60454-3-1:1998, Rressure-sensitive adhesive tapes for electrical purposes – Part 3: Specifications for individual materials – Sheet 1: PVC film tapes with pressuresensitive adhesive Amendment 1 (2001) IEC 60664-1:2007, Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems -Part 1: Principles, requirements and tests IEC 60664-5:2007, Insulation coordination for equipment within low-voltage systems – Part 5: Comprehensive method for determining clearances and creepage distances equal to or less than 2 mm IEC 61189-2:2006, Test methods for electrical materials, printed boards and other interconnection structures and assemblies - Part 2:Test methods for materials for interconnection structures IEC 61189-3:2007, Test methods for electrical materials, printed boards and other interconnection structures and assemblies – Part 3: Test methods for interconnection structures (printed boards) IEC 61249-2 (all Parts 2) Materials for printed boards and other interconnecting structures -Reinforced base materials, clad and unclad

60664-3 © IEC:2003+A1:2010

IEC Guide 104:2004, The preparation of safety publications and the use of basic safety publications and group safety publications

3 Definitions

For the purposes of this document, the definitions given in IEC 60664-1 as well as the following definitions apply.

3.1

base material

insulating material upon which a conductive pattern may be formed

NOTE The base material may be rigid or flexible, or both. It may be a dielectric or an insulated metal sheet.

(IEC 60194, definition 40.1334)

3.2

printed board

general term for completely processed printed circuit and printed wiring configurations NOTE This includes single-sided, double-sided and multilayer boards with rigid, flexible, and rigid-flex base materials

(IEC 60194, definition 60.1485)

3.3

conductor

single conductive path in a conductive pattern

(IEC 60194, definition 22.0251)

3.4

protection

any kind of measure which reduces the influence of the environment

nttps://standards.ite

coating

insulating material such as varnish or dry film laid on the surface of the assembly

NOTE Coating and base material of a printed board form an insulating system that may have properties similar to solid insulation.

3.6

solid insulation

solid insulating material interposed between two conductive parts

NOTE In the case of a printed board with a coating, solid insulation consists of the board itself as well as the coating. In other cases, solid insulation consists of the encapsulating material.

3.7

spacing

any combination of clearances, creepage distances and insulation distances through insulation

4 Design requirements

4.1 Principles

Dimensioning of spacings between conductors depends on the type of protection used.

When type 1 protection is used, dimensioning of clearances and creepage distances shall follow the requirements of Part 1 or Part 5. If the requirements of this standard are met, pollution degree 1 applies under the protection.

When type 2 protection is used, spacings between conductive parts shall meet the requirements and tests for solid insulation of Part 1 and their dimensions shall not be less than the minimum clearances specified in Part 1 or Part 5 for homogeneous field conditions.

4.2 Application range regarding environment

The design requirements are applicable in all microenvironments.

Stresses such as temperature, chemical, mechanical or those listed in <u>3.3.2.3</u> 5.3.2.4 of Part 1 shall be taken into account when the protective material is selected.

Absorption of humidity by the protective material shall not impair the insulation properties of the parts being protected.

NOTE Absorption of humidity can be checked by an insulation resistance measurement under humid conditions.

4.3 Requirements for the types of protection

Protection is achieved in the following ways:

- type 1 protection improves the microenvironment of the parts under the protection. The clearance and creepage distance requirements of Part 1 or Part 5 for pollution degree 1
- ¹¹ps://stapply under the protection. Between two conductive parts, it is a requirement that one or 200 both conductive parts, together with all the spacings between them, are covered by the protection;
 - type 2 protection is considered to be similar to solid insulation. Under the protection, the requirements for solid insulation specified in Part 1 are applicable and the spacings shall be not less than those specified in Table 1. The requirements for clearances and creepage distances in Part 1 or Part 5 do not apply. Between two conductive parts, it is a requirement that both conductive parts, together with all the spacings between them, are covered by the protection so that no airgap exists between the protective material, the conductive parts and the printed board.

Clearance and creepage distance requirements according to Part 1 or Part 5 apply to all unprotected parts of the equipment.

4.4 Dimensioning procedures

For type 1 protection, the dimensioning requirements of 3.15.1 and 3.25.2 of Part 1 or Part 5 apply.

For type 2 protection, the spacing between the conductors before the protection is applied shall not be less than the values as specified in Table 1. These values apply to basic insulation, supplementary insulation as well as reinforced insulation. These values may also be applied to functional insulation.

NOTE In case of multi-layer boards, the spacing between the conductors at the surface of inner layers is dimensioned as specified for type 1 protection or type 2 protection depending on the result of the tests on the protection.

	Maximum peak value of any voltage ^{a)} kV	Minimum spacings mm	
	≤0,33	0,01	
	>0,33 and ≤0,4	0,02	
	>0,4 and ≤0,5	0,04	
	>0,5 and ≤0,6	0,06	
	>0,6 and ≤0,8	0,1	
	>0,8 and ≤1,0	0,15	
	>1,0 and ≤1,2	0,2	\frown
	>1,2 and ≤1,5	0,3	$\langle \rangle \rangle$
	>1,5 and ≤2,0	0,45	\setminus \setminus \checkmark
	>2,0 and ≤2,5	0,6	
	>2,5 and ≤3,0	0,8	\geq
	>3,0 and ≤4,0	1,2	~
	>4,0 and ≤5,0	1,5	
	>5,0 and ≤6,0		
	>6,0 and ≤8,0		
	>8,0 and ≤10	3,5	
	>10 and ≤12	4,5	
	>12 and ≤15	5,5	
	>15 and ≤20	8	
	>20 and ≤25	4-3:2003 10	
ndards.iteh.aX	>25 and ≤30	9a-b2c0-4ac12,54b2-afec2cd	9bbf0/iec-60664-3-
	>30 and <u>≮</u> 40	17	
~ <	-40 and ≤50	22	
	>50 and ≤60	27	
	>60 and ≤80	35	
	>80 and ≤100	45	
	a) transient overvoltages are dis to degrade the protected assembl	regarded since they are unlikely y.	

Table 1 – Minimum spacings for type 2 protection

Compliance is checked by measurement of the spacing before applying the protection.

5 Tests

5.1 General

The suitability of protection is evaluated by carrying out all the tests described in 5.8 after the conditioning described in 5.7.

NOTE The suitability of protection is evaluated after the scratch resistance test described in 5.5, the visual examination described in 5.6 and the subsequent conditioning described in 5.7.

Six specimens are used unless otherwise specified by technical committees. In addition, technical committees may specify the additional tests of 5.9, each of which is carried out on a separate new specimen.

These tests are designed for type testing. Technical committees should consider if any of the tests shall be specified for routine or sampling tests.

The sequence of tests is shown in Annex A.

No failure of any specimen under test is permitted.

Annex B lists the decisions required to be taken by technical committees when referring to this standard.

5.2 Specimens for testing coatings

Test specimens may be

- test specimens according to Annex C, which specifically applies for printed wiring boards. The specimen used for testing shall have the same minimum distances as those from production;
- specimens from production;
- any printed board, as long as the test specimens are representative of those from production.

5.3 Specimens for testing mouldings and potting

Production specimens shall be used, or they shall be representative of those from production.

5.4 Preparation of test specimens

Printed boards shall be cleaned and coated using the normal procedure of the manufacturer. The soldering procedure is carried out but without components being in place. Moulded and potted specimens shall be tested without further preparation.

5.5 Scratch resistance test

Scratches shall be made across five pairs of conducting parts and the intervening separations at points where the separations will be subject to the maximum potential gradient during the tests.

NOTE In some cases, scratch resistance test cannot be applied to assemblies protected against pollution by the use of potting or moulding. In such cases, considerations for any alternatively or additional tests may be necessary

Scratches shall be made across five pairs of conducting parts and the intervening separations at points where the insulation will be subject to the maximum electric field strength between conductors.

Protective layers shall be scratched by means of a hardened steel pin, the end of which has the form of a cone with an angle of 40° . Its tip shall be rounded and polished, with a radius of 0,25 mm ± 0,02 mm. The pin shall be loaded so that the force exerted along its axis is 10 N ± 0,5 N. The scratches shall be made by drawing the pin along the surface in a plane perpendicular to the conductor edges of the protective layer at a speed of approximately 20 mm/s as shown in Figure 1. Five scratches shall be made at least 5 mm apart and at least 5 mm from the edges.